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Memorandum 
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FROM:  CAO Clerk-Treasurer – Jenny Leblond 
DATE:  January 30, 2024 
RE:   Special Council Meeting Re: Beach Road 
 

This meeting was scheduled as an outcome of the Council meeting on December 12, 
2023, where residents requested a private meeting to discuss Beach Road options.  
 
Introduction 
The purpose of this meeting is to clarify for Council, the public and the residents, the 
events and interactions between the Township and the property owners of the vacant land 
along Beach Road between Chiswick Line and Memorial Park Drive. Staff and Council 
have spent many hours deliberating on this subject and are hoping we can clarify all the 
information and come to a consensus.  
 
Staff began interaction back in 2021 with the previous owner as well as the current 
owners before the properties were sold/purchased. See the map below showing the 
locations of the vacant properties and the zoning. 
 

Figure 1: Schedule A, Township of Chisholm Official Plan 
 

 
Figure 2: Schedule B, Township of Chisholm Official Plan 
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Background Information 
The properties have frontage along Chiswick Line and Memorial Park Drive. All three 
properties have a large portion that is zoned Environmental Protection and Shoreline, 
shown in figure 1, that covers all the frontage on Memorial Park Drive and the majority 
of frontage on Chiswick Line. This is due to a Provincially Significant Wetland, shown in 
Figure 2, that runs through the properties.  The existing use of the properties has been 
Agriculture and is in accordance with the official plan and zoning by-law. This use can 
continue as long as there are no encroachments or further impacts to the Provincially 
Significant Wetland.  
 
Beach Road is an open public road that is classed as a seasonally maintained road. The 
Township has only ever serviced this road by grading it at least once a season. Beach 
Road has always been used for farming access and to access Wasi Lake.   
 
It is the Township’s responsibility to provide services to residents in accordance with all 
Municipal by-laws as well as provincial laws and regulations. Whenever there is a new 
proposed use it is the Township’s responsibility to ensure that all residents of the 
Township conform to the provincial laws and regulations as well as the Municipality’s 
Official Plan and Zoning By-law. As per the Zoning By-law, new proposed residential 
use shall have direct access to a municipally maintained road. 
 
Timeline of Events 
Property on Chiswick Line 
The property owner with frontage on Chiswick Line began conversation with the 
Township back in 2021 prior to purchasing. At the time of inquiry, staff made the owners 
well aware that there was a Provincially Significant Wetland and that a new residential 
use would have to conform to the Official Plan and Zoning By-law. The property was 
purchased in 2022. After many consultations with the owners of the property in regards 
to a residence and agricultural buildings, staff agreed to help them get started by releasing 
a permit for a barn on this property. The permit was released with the understanding that 
the owners were putting in a driveway off of Chiswick Line and would then submit an 
application for a residence. The owners were well aware, when they received the permit 
for the barn, that Beach Road was not maintained in the winter and spring months and is 
very limitedly maintained in the summer and fall months. In order to get a permit for a 
residence, the building would have to have direct access to the municipally maintained 
road.  
The Township agreed they would allow a driveway off Chiswick Line through the 
Environmental Protection zone, with approval from the North Bay Mattawa Conservation 
Authority, and once the driveway entrance was installed, the Township would release a 
permit for a residence. The entrance permit was issued in September of 2023. There has 
not been any activity as of yet for the installment of the required culvert for this entrance. 
In mid January 2024 the Township staff had another conversation with the land owners 
and cleared up some of the misunderstandings and misinformation. The landowner 
confirmed that they will be installing the entrance and staff informed that a residence 
permit would be issued when this has been done, and that the landowners can start the 
building permit application process at any time.   
 
The Properties on Memorial Park Drive 
The previous owner of these properties communicated with the staff requesting beach 
road be upgraded to a fully maintained road in May of 2021. This was in response of 
finding that the zoning of their property would not permit a driveway off of Memorial 
Park Drive. Staff sent a letter informing the previous owner as to the wording of the 
official plan in regards to upgrading the road and that if the landowners agreed to pay the 
cost of upgrading the road then the Township would assume the maintenance going 
forward.  Staff had the engineer do a preliminary report to upgrade the north end of beach 
road. 
 
The new property owners inquired about using beach road to build a residence. The letter 
that was sent to the previous owner along with the engineer report was sent to the new 
owner. Staff met with the Conservation Authority to discuss upgrading the road in the 
floodplain. After the information was shared with Council, the owners asked if they could 
use the road year-round to access their properties. Staff obtained legal advice in 
September 2022 which concluded that the road can be used to access the properties as is 
but legal did not advise to go this route if changing the use to residential. Staff have not 
had any further deliberation with these owners. The majority of the communication has 



been with the Chiswick Line property owners as well as members of the community 
acting on their behalf.  
 
 
 
Council Consideration 
The questions that Council have been asked to consider are the following: 
 

• Will the Township consider issuing building permits for a residence off of beach 
road without upgrading the road? 

• If the landowners upgrade the road can it be done below the minimum standard? 
Does the materials have to be to a standard as well? 

• Would the Township consider upgrading the road and fully maintaining it year-
round and bear all the costs associated with this? 
 

Attachments 
Engineer Report for the North End of Beach Road 
Engineer Report for the South End of Beach Road 
 


























